
 1

Planning & Zoning Commission 

Windham, CT 

Minutes 

March 27, 2014 

 

The Windham Planning & Zoning Commission held its meeting on March 27, 2014 in the 

Meeting Room, Town Hall.  Chair Paula Stahl called the meeting to order at 7:00 P.M.  

Members in attendance were Ed Pelletier, Jean Chaine, Dan Lein, Scott Lambeck, Claire Lary 

and Paula Stahl. Also present were Town Planner James Finger and Zoning Enforcement Officer 

Matthew Vertefeuille. 

 

I) Approval of Minutes 

 

The minutes of February 27, 2014 were approved.  Motion made by Dan Lein and seconded by 

Scott Lambeck.  Voting in favor of the motion were Dan Lein, Scott Lambeck, Jean Chaine, 

Claire Lary and Paula Stahl. The motion carried with Ed Pelletier abstaining. 

 

II) Public Hearings 

 

a) WJK Properties, LLC and Jayne Pelletier - for property at 36 & 46 Quercus Avenue, 

Willimantic, CT (aka Assessor’s Map 14-5, Block 167, Lots 2 & 2.1).  This is an application for 

zoning amendment from R-4 to Neighborhood Preservation Residence District NPR-2 

 

Ed Pelletier recused himself from the meeting and left the meeting room at 7:05 P.M. 

 

Joseph Boucher, M.S., L.S. with Towne Engineering, representing Jayne Pelletier and EJK 

Properties LLC spoke to the proposal.  He said the property is located on the east side of 

Quercus, and abuts the American Legion ball field. Datum Engineering & Surveying, LLC 

would like to relocate the office to 36 Quercus Avenue at some point in the future. 

 

ZEO Matt Vertefeuille said he reviewed the plans and didn’t see any problem with the proposed 

zone change as NPR-2 is an adjacent zone. 

 

Chair Paula Stahl said she did speak with Mr. Pelletier on the telephone to make sure he was 

aware of the fact that the Commission, over the next year and a half, will be reviewing all 

residential zones including the NPR-2, the R-4, NPR-1. The zone could be changed now at the 

applicant’s request, or it might be changed later when we look over the residential zones, said 

Stahl.  If this is granted now, it could still be changed in a year, this change doesn’t mean that it 

will be that zone forever.   

 

Commissioner Jean Chaine questioned whether this property would be grandfathered if the zone 

were changed to NPR-2 now.  If a particular location wanted to start a kitchen and sell cupcakes, 

would that be allowed in this location, he asked.  Chair Stahl said that  home occupations are 

allowed.  Anyone can have a home occupation in their home, but within certain parameters.  She 

said selling the cupcakes from the front door probably would not be allowed.   



 2

Commissioner Chaine asked if they were just baking them in the home and then taking them 

away in a vehicle, would that be allowed, he asked.  Chair Stahl said that probably would fall 

under the parameters of a home occupation.  She said a lot of towns have 2 levels of home 

occupation.  They have a minor home occupation and a major home occupation.   But, he is not 

seeking approval for a home occupation.  He is seeking a zone change from R-4 to NPR-2.  It is 

only a zone change, she said. He has not submitted an application for anything other than the 

zone change.  Commissioner Chaine said a zone change would allow him to do that at this 

location.  Chair Stahl said a home occupation would be allowed.   

 

She said one of the things that we would have to base any application for a business in the NPR 

is how we have defined the language for business use in the NPR over the years. She said the 

NPR Zone is named neighborhood preservation.  Adding a businesses to a neighborhood would 

not be preserving a neighborhood so the language specifies the streets in the NPR that could have 

a business, Quercus is not one of those streets.  Commissioner Chaine asked if there is another 

avenue the applicant can pursue. Chair Stahl said one of the things that she wanted to make sure 

is that the applicant realizes that over the next year and a half we will be looking at 

neighborhoods and home occupations.  She restated that only a zone change is before the 

Commission tonight.   A general discussion by the members ensued. 

 

Chair Stahl asked if there were any comments from the public. As there were no public 

comments and no further discussion by commission members, the Chair asked the members if 

they were ready to close the public hearing, members indicated they had sufficient information 

and the hearing was closed. 

 

Dan Lein made a motion to approve the application of EJK Properties, LLC & Jayne Pelletier for 

a zoning amendment from R-4 to Neighborhood Preservation Residence District NPR-2 for 

property at 36 & 46 Quercus Avenue, Willimantic.  Jean Chaine seconded the motion.  Voting in 

favor of the motion were Dan Lein, Jean Chaine, Scott Lambeck, Claire Lary and Paula Stahl.  

The motion carried. 

 

Commissioner Ed Pelletier resumed his seat on the commission at 7:25 P.M. 

 

III) New Business 

 

a) Chaim Fisher (aka Colonial BT LLC), 145 Foster Drive, Willimantic, CT – Special 

Permit application to expand the number of dwellings into unoccupied space at existing multi-

family development.  Take receipt of the application and notify the Town of Mansfield prior to 

the hearing.   

 

ZEO Matt Vertefeuille advised the commission that the name on the application has been 

changed from Chaim Fisher to Colonial Townhouse Apartments.  

 

The applicant proposes to expand the number of dwelling units into building space that is 

presently unoccupied. The apartment complex which was originally built in the 1960’s is located 

at 145 Foster Drive and the abutting property is the Town of Mansfield.      

 



 3

There are presently three types of buildings on the site.  They would like to add 29 or 30 more 

units into the existing buildings and there is a waiting list of people who are waiting for these 

apartments. 

 

The commission took receipt of the application and will schedule a public hearing either April or 

24th at the earliest, or May 22nd at the latest. 

 

IV) Other Business 

 

David Evans, 606 Back Road, North Windham – second preliminary review of a proposed 

six-lot subdivision plan.  

 

The applicant was before the commission in February for a preliminary review.  At the 

conclusion of that meeting, Mr. Wentworth agreed to review the regulations pertaining to access, 

driveways, rear lots and also to review the soil types.  In response to Chair Stahl’s inquiry 

regarding access, Mr. Wentworth said they are considering one central access and then have 

driveways feed off of that.  ZEO Matt Vertefeuille said if the access is a road, it would have to be 

built according to Town specifications.  

 

Wes Wentworth, LLC, representing David Evans, said the additional soil testing has been 

completed.  He referred to the last page of the map which shows the scale of the parcel. He said 

there is a 1000 foot setback line off of Back Road, and there is a shallow ledge on the north side 

of the property. He then reviewed the proposed layout of the lots, including the common 

driveway. He said the layout of the lots is based on current flexible design standards.  He said the 

proposal is to develop 6 lots.  

 

Mr. Wentworth said he met with Town Engineer Joseph Gardner and who said he was 

comfortable with the proposed access as a private gravel road.  There was discussion on the  

need to revise the subdivision regulations as a gravel road would not currently be permitted.  

Another alternative would be to allow frontage on a common drive. Stahl commented that since 

the regulations were adopted there has only been one subdivision submitted because of the 

economy;  the Planning Commission had assumed that tweaks would be needed to the 

regulations after a few subdivision reviews tested them.    Mr. Wentworth asked if they could get 

by with a gravel drive of 12-15 feet wide.  Commissioner Ed Pelletier said the private drive 

would give the lots frontage except for the 2 rear lots, but it would have to follow the Town's 

road standards that requires a minimum width.  He said it would be easier to change the 

specifications of the private drive than to change the regulations. 

 

After a lengthy discussion, Mr. Wentworth said he would take the commission’s comments into 

consideration, and may return with some recommendations for changes to the regulations.  He 

said he enjoyed designing the subdivision based on where the house should go instead of starting 

by drawing lot lines.  He enjoyed the process laid out in the regulations.  

 



 4

b) Draft Manufacturing & Industrial district Map & Regulations – Stakeholder input. 

 

Chair Paula Stahl explained that the goal it to align the regulations with the current development 

pattern and to promote a larger area for manufacturing and to reduce approval hoops by 

increasing the types of uses that are permitted with just staff approval.  She then went on to high-

light the proposed changes and the locations of the districts. The purpose and intent of the M-1 

Zone is to permit manufacturing in harmony with surrounding commercial and residential 

development.  Section 41 includes all permitted uses, special uses and prohibited uses. It also 

talks about lot area, shape and frontage, buffers, setbacks, height of buildings lot coverage and 

aquifer protections.  Section 42 reflects the Business Park and Light Manufacturing District.  The 

purpose and intent of this District is to permit a business park with light manufacturing.  Section 

44, the Manufacturing/Industrial District M-4 would be for more intense uses.  

 

Chair Stahl then asked if anyone in the audience wished to comment on the proposed changes.  

 

Audience Comments: 

 

1) Joseph Boucher, M.S., L.S. with Towne Engineering said some property owners like the way 

things are now.  They don’t want to lose the opportunity to develop their properties.  He said 

three properties currently owned by Windham Materials would be changed.  Under the new 

regulations, it appears that Windham Materials would not be able to have a wholesale business. 

Mr. Boucher then commented on some of the other proposed changes.  Chair Stahl clarified the 

regulations, and noted the changes needed to address Mr. Boucher’s concerns would be 

considered at the next working meeting. 

 

2) Tim DeVivo, principle with Willimantic Waste Paper Co., Inc distributed a handout which 

outlined  his concerns about the draft revised regulations being proposed in the M-4 Zone, 

especially Section 44.4.9, which places “Customary accessory structures and uses” in the Special 

Uses category.  The Chair agreed with him, and said that was never the intent of the proposal and 

she would recommend that change.  Mr. DeVivo also said, Section 44.7.1 is excessive and we 

would recommend that the front setback be 25 feet and parking be allowed within 10 feet of the 

front of the property. 

 

Chair Stahl said the commission will review all the comments received and will redraft the 

revisions taking into consideration those comments.   Prior to the April 28th meeting a new draft 

will be shared with stakeholders.  

 

V) Report from Zoning Enforcement Officer. 

 

a) The Hurley Building on Main Street has had some reinforcement on the roof, as there was an 

issue with falling snow.  There is a party interested in acquiring the building.   

 

b) Lefty’s Restaurant has opened on Main Street in the building formerly occupied by Fred’s 

House of Ribs.  

  



 5

VI) Routine 

 

a) Correspondence from the Town of Columbia pertaining to a change to their zoning 

regulations. The changes will not impact the Town of Windham. 

 

b) Miscellaneous    

  

Correspondence from Town Attorney Rich Cody 

 

At the request of the Commission, Town Attorney Cody was contacted for a legal opinion on the 

implications when an approved project is not started, or completed, as required under the current 

Zoning regulations - specifically under General provisions of  Section 3.2.1, and 61.9.6 and 

subsequently zoning regulations had changed.  

 

Attorney Cody responded that the approvals are presumptively valid; but as a deadline 

approaches for project we then look at the circumstances and decide if an application for an 

extension is appropriate.  Attorney Cody responded that as to liability, hypothetically speaking, if 

the Town were to sign a grant agreement and afterward breach its provisions, the Town would be 

liable for damages or other relief. It would depend upon what the grant terms provide. 

 

As to the effect of changed performance standard regulations, generally speaking, where an 

approval has legally expired and the regulations have changed, the commission would have to 

apply its then-valid regulations to whatever application is filed.  How that would play out under a 

set of facts where there is a claim that there are no changed circumstances, will depend upon 

what the regulation change is and what the facts are.  These issues are usually fact driven.  

  

He went on to say that while there are difficulties interpreting consistently with various sections 

of the Town's zoning regulations, the Commission should assume that they are valid, for the 

regulations are presumed to be valid in law.  In the meantime, he advised that the Commission 

may want to consider making amendments to them to be consistent. 

 

As there was no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 8:45 P.M.  Motion made by Ed 

Pelletier and seconded by Jean Chaine.  The motion carried unanimously. 

 

                                                                           Respectfully submitted,                                                                            

                                                                            Lillian Murray, Clerk                                                                                      


